STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2019AP001046 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

THEOPHILOUS RUFFIN,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and from an Order Denying Postconviction Motion, Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable M. Joseph Donald Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

NICOLE M. MASNICA Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1079819

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 masnican@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

RECEIVED

08-20-2019

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Was it harmless error when the circuit court mistakenly instructed the jury on the incorrect substantive jury instruction outlining a form of second-degree sexual assault that was different than what Mr. Ruffin had been charged with and defended against at trial?

The circuit court concluded the instructional error was harmless, and denied Mr. Ruffin's request to vacate his conviction.

2. Was trial counsel deficient for failing to make a contemporaneous objection to the incorrect jury instruction, and if so, did the error prejudice Mr. Ruffin?

The circuit court concluded even if trial counsel was deficient, Mr. Ruffin was not prejudiced because the jury would have found him guilty of seconddegree sexual assault, causing injury, had the court provided the correct jury instruction.

3. Does the error in the substantive jury instruction warrant a new trial in the interest of justice?

The circuit court concluded that the real controversy was tried regardless of the instructional error, and declined to order a new trial in the interest of justice.

4. Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion when it declined to provide the

affirmative defense of "accident," set forth in WI-Criminal JI 772, to the instruction second-degree sexual assault, intercourse without consent causing injury, contrary to Wis. Stat. §940.225(2)(b)?

Prior to the conclusion of trial, the court considered this argument and declined to provide the "accident" instruction because the sexual assault charge, in its opinion, carried no mental state to modify with the instruction.

5. Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to present to the circuit court relevant legal precedent in support of his request for the "accident" instruction to the charge of seconddegree sexual assault, intercourse without consent causing injury, contrary to Wis. Stat. §940.225(2)(b)?

The circuit court concluded that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to provide any legal support for the request for the "accident" instruction because the court would not have provided the instruction had counsel effectively argued its position, and therefore, there is no prejudice.

6. Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to pursue its request to provide the "self-defense" instruction, WI-Criminal JI 800, for the charge of second-degree sexual assault, intercourse without consent causing injury, contrary to Wis. Stat. §940.225(2)(b)?

The circuit court concluded that trial counsel was not ineffective because, in its opinion, there was

"not a reasonable probability" that the jury would have found the exercise of self-defense reasonable due to the amount of force used, and therefore, there was no prejudice.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Ruffin welcomes oral argument on this issue if the court would find it helpful to deciding the questions posed by this appeal. This matter involves the application of legal principles, specifically applicability of the affirmative defenses of "accident" and "self-defense" in sexual assault cases. This issue has not been fully considered by appellate courts, and therefore, Mr. Ruffin requests publication.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the morning of Sunday, November 29, 2015, there was a physical altercation between Mr. Ruffin and V.P. (1). During that incident, V.P. sustained an injury to her labia. (1). Mr. Ruffin and V.P. had very different versions of what had occurred in their home that morning and how V.P. was injured, and ultimately testified before a jury about those allegations. (69, 70, 73). V.P asserted that she and Mr. Ruffin had been in a verbal argument that morning over who would feed their young baby, who had awoken in their bedroom and was crying. (69:117-120). She asserted that during the incident, Mr. Ruffin threw her on the bed, held her down and physically moved his hand forcefully in her vaginal area over her clothes. (69:128-129; 70:7-8). This, she testified, was what caused her labia injury. (70:8). Once she yelled in pain, she testified that the altercation stopped. (70:8-9).

Mr. Ruffin testified in his own defense. He agreed that the incident began as a verbal dispute, but that they also argued over V.P.'s cocaine and alcohol use the prior evening, as she was pregnant at the time. (73:7-8). He told the jury that during the argument, he told V.P. that he wanted her out of the house and was going to call her social worker and report that she was using drugs while pregnant. (73:8). This, he testified, set V.P. off and she attacked him, jumping on him and knocking them onto the bed. (73:8-9). Once on the bed, Mr. Ruffin testified that V.P. had wrapped her legs around him and was physically assaulting him. (73:9-10).

In an effort to get V.P. off of him and not put pressure on her stomach to protect the baby, Mr. Ruffin testified that he grabbed her by the shoulder and the vaginal area to lift her up and push her off of him. (73:9-10, 45-46). When he did this, he testified that V.P. yelled in pain and the altercation ceased. (73:11). V.P. went to the bathroom and discovered the injury to her labia. (73:11).

Mr. Ruffin was ultimately charged in Milwaukee County Case Number 2015CF5306 with two counts: second-degree sexual assault causing injury, domestic abuse, contrary to Wis. Stat. \$\$940.225(2)(b), 939.50(3)(c), and 968.075(1)(a); and mayhem, domestic abuse, contrary to Wis. Stat. \$\$940.21, 939.50(3)(c), and 968.075(1)(a). (1). The matter proceeded to trial in October 2016. (68, 69, 70, 71, 72, 73, 74).

Following the close of evidence, the parties discussed the submission of jury instructions. (73:62-79). Defense counsel requested the self-defense instruction, WI-Criminal JI 800, for both counts. Counsel argued that Mr. Ruffin's testimony that his actions were "defensive actions" and that "[h]e was trying to protect himself and the unborn child and Miss P[]" supported this instruction. (73:62-63). After a brief recess to allow the parties to review the instruction, defense counsel withdrew the request for the self-defense modification to the instructions, stating that "[a]fter reading through it I don't think it can be worded the way I think needs to be worded. Therefore, I'm going to withdraw the request. I'm not sure it really fits the situation." (73:63-64). The court did not conduct any colloquy with Mr. Ruffin regarding his attorney's withdrawal of the request for the self-defense instruction. (73:63-64).

Defense counsel then requested that the court add the language of WI-Criminal JI 772, Accident, to the instructions for both counts. The court granted the defense request on the mayhem count, but declined to modify the instruction for sexual assault. (73:70).

The court ultimately agreed with the State's position, concluding that second-degree sexual assault was a strict-liability offense, and that because intent was required by the instruction, the accident defense did not apply. (73:69). Defense counsel alternatively asked the court to modify the sexual

assault instruction with the language found in WI-Criminal JI 770, Mistake. (73:70). The court again denied the defense request. The court opined that defense counsel was free to make these arguments during closing, but that there were no legal grounds to provide the "mistake" instruction. (73:71).

In closing argument, the State asserted that Mr. Ruffin had essentially admitted guilt regarding count one, stating:

> There's no dispute that the defendant caused the injury. He admitted it. The defendant claims this was all an accident. So really the only dispute here is whether or not the defendant committed the mayhem charge, because by his own admissions on the witness stand in using the diagram of a woman's genitalia, by grabbing that labia he had to have made an intrusion into her vagina just based on where it is.

(73:93). Regarding the mayhem charge, the State argued that the case was "all about credibility. It's who you believe. There were two people in that room that day, V.P. and the defendant. Those are the people who knew what happened." (73:93). The credibility theme carried throughout the State's closing. (73:93-97).

Defense counsel argued that the evidence supported Mr. Ruffin's version of what had occurred – that V.P. was intoxicated, verbally and physically aggressive and that while he grabbed her between the legs, he did not intend to injure her, but rather to push her off of him as she attacked him on the bed. (73:99-119). Counsel argued that the injury to V.P. was accidental and occurred while Mr. Ruffin was defending himself. (73:99). Defense counsel argued that V.P. had a motive to lie and falsify what occurred. (73:106-109).

Following closing arguments, the jury began deliberations, which continued to the next day, resulting in a split verdict – the jury found Mr. Ruffin guilty of count one, second-degree sexual assault, but not guilty of count two, mayhem. (21). The court ordered a judgment of conviction prepared on count one and a judgment of acquittal on count two. (74:7).

After the trial had concluded, it was discovered by defense counsel that there had been a substantial error in the jury instructions. (75). Specifically, the court had read the wrong substantive instruction to the jury charging count one, second-degree sexual assault. (74:1-3; 15:3-6).

Mr. Ruffin had been charged with seconddegree sexual assault, causing injury. (1; 4). Neither the complaint, nor information had been amended to change the charge, and all parties proceeded to trial on the understanding that Mr. Ruffin was charged in count one with second-degree sexual assault, contrary to Wis. Stat. §940.225(2)(b).

WI JI-Criminal 1209 sets forth elements for second-degree sexual assault, sexual intercourse causing injury. Before Mr. Ruffin could have been found guilty of this offense, the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the following elements:

1. Mr. Ruffin had sexual intercourse with V.P.

- 2. V.P. did not consent to the sexual intercourse.
- 3. Mr. Ruffin caused injury to V.P.

WI JI-Criminal 1209 (2017).

"Cause" is defined in WI JI-Criminal 901. Thus, WI JI-Criminal 1209 should have received the following addition:

> The third element requires that the defendant causing injury to V.P. "Cause" means that the defendant's conduct was a substantial factor in producing the injury.

WI JI-Criminal 901.

This is not the instruction the court provided to the jury. Instead, the court read WI JI-Criminal 1208 by mistake. (15:3-6). WI JI-Criminal 1208 details offenses charged under Wis. Stat. §940.225(2)(a), second-degree sexual assault, use of threat or force, and requires that the State prove the following:

- 1. Mr. Ruffin had sexual intercourse with V.P.
- 2. V.P. did not consent to the sexual intercourse.
- 3. Mr. Ruffin had sexual intercourse with V.P. by use or threat of force or violence.

WI JI-Criminal 1208.

Defense counsel identified the issue in court on December 16, 2016. Accordingly, the court scheduled the matter for a formal hearing for motions after verdict. (75).

At the next hearing, the court started off the hearing by acknowledging the parties were in agreement that the incorrect substantive instruction had been presented to the jury. (76:1-3). Citing *State v. Williams*, 2015 WI 75, 364 Wis. 2d 126, 867 N.W.2d 736, the court opined that the question that remained was whether the error was harmless to Mr. Ruffin. (76:7).

The State contended that the defense had notice of the instruction number to be submitted to the jury, as it listed the erroneous instruction number in its instruction request it filed with the court prior to the start of trial. (76:8). The State further argued that it was relying on "second-degree sexual assault, use of force, as the theory of [its] case." (76:8). The State asserted that the defense was not "tricked" or "unable" to have "com[e] up with an actual defense to the charges that we litigated which were not the ones in the Information," and the State asked the court to uphold the verdict. (76:9).

Defense disagreed and argued that the error caused Mr. Ruffin substantial prejudice. Counsel declared that he had been handling the case and developing strategy under the belief that the crime he was defending against was the one charged, seconddegree sexual assault, causing injury, contrary to Wis. Stat. §940.225(2)(b). He argued that his entire presentation to the jury was grounded on the theory that the injury to V.P. was accidental and that he did not intentionally harm his girlfriend. (76:9-10). Further, defense counsel asserted that there was evidence that this argument was effective on the jury because Mr. Ruffin was found not guilty of the mayhem¹ charge, which also requires that Mr. Ruffin caused an injury to V.P. (76:10-11).

Counsel also argued that had Mr. Ruffin been formally charged with second-degree sexual assault, use of force, contrary to §940.225(2)(a), his defense would have been very different. (76:11-12). Notably, defense counsel pointed out that his calculus in deciding whether to request the lesser-included offense of third-degree sexual assault², would have

- 1. The defendant cut or mutilated any body part of the victim.
- 2. The cutting or mutilation caused great bodily harm to the victim. ("Cause" means that the defendant's conduct was a substantial factor in producing great bodily harm. "Great bodily harm" means injury which creates a substantial risk of death, which causes serious permanent disfigurement, which causes protracted loss or impairment of the function of the body part, or any other serious bodily injury.)
- 3. The defendant intended to disable or disfigure the victim.

WI JI-Criminal 1246.

² WI JI-Criminal 1218A outlines the offense of thirddegree sexual assault, sexual intercourse. In order for a (continued)

¹ In order for a defendant to be found guilty of mayhem, contrary to Wis. Stat. §940.21, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt:

been very different had Mr. Ruffin been charged with second-degree sexual assault, use or threat of force. (76:12).

The court ultimately concluded that the error was harmless and directed verdict on the charge of second-degree sexual assault, causing injury. (76:12-19). The court held that there was clear evidence an injury had occurred, and as a result, it was "satisfied that this jury, even if [the court] had given the correct instruction, given the evidence that was introduced, would have come to the same conclusion, that this was a sexual – that this was sexual intercourse, that the victim did not consent to the sexual intercourse and that the Defendant caused the injury." (76:16-17). The court acknowledged that even though it did not know why the jury found Mr. Ruffin not guilty of the mayhem charge, as there were many possibilities as to why that occurred, it did not believe the acquittal was because "the State did not prove that there was an injury." (76:17).

defendant to be found guilty of third-degree sexual assault, the State must prove:

- 4. Mr. Ruffin had sexual intercourse with V.P.
- 5. V.P. did not consent to sexual intercourse.

Thus, under both Wis. Stat. §939.66(1) and the elements-only test, third-degree sexual assault is a lesser-included offense of both second-degree sexual assault, use or threat of force, and second-degree sexual assault, causing injury. *See Blockburger* v. U.S., 284 U.S. 299 (1932).

The matter was scheduled for sentencing and on February 24, 2017, the court ordered that Mr. Ruffin serve eight years initial confinement and four years initial confinement. (30).

Undersigned counsel was appointed and on October 17, 2018, a postconviction motion alleging the following was filed with the court:

- 1. The circuit court erred when it submitted the incorrect substantive instruction to the jury, and Mr. Ruffin was harmed as a result.
- 2. Trial counsel was ineffective when he failed to object to the submission of the incorrect substantive instruction to the jury, and Mr. Ruffin was prejudiced as a result.
- 3. Due to the error in the substantive instructions, a new trial is warranted in the interest of justice.
- 4. The circuit erred when it declined to provide the "accident" instruction (WI JI-Criminal 772) as an affirmative defense to count one, second-degree sexual assault, causing injury.
- 5. Trial counsel was ineffective in his request for the "accident" instruction (WI JI-Criminal 772) as he did not present the applicable legal support for his request, which resulted in the court refusing to provide the instruction and prejudiced Mr. Ruffin accordingly.

6. Trial counsel was ineffective for prematurely abandoning his request that the "selfdefense" instruction in count one, seconddegree sexual assault, and Mr. Ruffin was prejudiced as a result.

(49).

On November 2, 2018, the circuit court denied Mr. Ruffin's postconviction motion in its entirety. (50).

Regarding the error in the jury instruction, the circuit court concluded that the error was harmless and that Mr. Ruffin was not prejudiced by the mistake because "the jury would have found the defendant guilty of second degree sexual assault *beyond a reasonable doubt.*" (50:3). The court likewise concluded that a new trial was not warranted in the interest of justice because it was "not persuaded that the real controversy has not been tried." (50:4).

The circuit court also concluded that even had trial counsel erred by not effectively pursuing the "accident" or in the alternative, the "self-defense" instructions, Mr. Ruffin was not prejudiced because in the court's view, there was no "reasonable probability the jury would have bought" either defense due to the severity of the injury to V.P. (50:4). The court, in a footnote, acknowledges the acquittal in the second count charging mayhem, but notes that it is irrelevant to the questions on count one, as "[t]he jury could simply have decided that he did *not intend* to disfigure or disable the victim and acquitted him on that basis," that that the jury did not necessarily accept his assertions that the injury was accidental. (50:4, fn. 1).

Mr. Ruffin now appeals.

ARGUMENT

- I. Mr. Ruffin was denied his constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel and his due process right to a fair trial when the court instructed the jury with the incorrect substantive jury instruction charging the wrong mode of sexual assault.
 - A. The submission of the incorrect substantive instruction, which presented an alternative theory of second-degree sexual assault, was not harmless.
 - 1. Legal principles and standard of review.

"A proper jury instruction is a crucial component of the fact-finding process." State v. Perkins, 2001 WI 46, ¶40, 243 Wis. 2d 141, 626 N.W.2d 762, citing State v. Howard, 211 Wis. 2d 269, 290, 564 N.W.2d 753 (1997). When it is alleged that there is an error in the instructions presented to the jury, the claim is subject to the harmless error analysis. State v. Williams, 2015 WI 75, ¶51, 364 Wis. 2d 126, 867 N.W.2d 736 (citations omitted). The harmless error analysis in the context of a dispute regarding jury instructions is two-fold.

First, the court must consider whether the instruction submitted to the jury contained an error, and second, if there was an error, whether it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury still would have convicted the defendant had the correct instruction been provided. Williams, 2015 WI 75, ¶53. If the dispute regarding the instruction involves a situation in which the instruction "omits an element or instructs on a different theory, it will often be difficult to surmise what the jury would have done if confronted with a proper instruction, even if the jury convicted under the erroneous instruction." Id. at \P 62. In these situations, it will be more difficult to demonstrate that the error in the jury instruction was harmless. Id; See, i.e., State v. Wulff, 207 Wis. 2d 143, 557 N.W.2d 813 (1997). Conversely, when the erroneous jury instruction adds an additional element, "the jury verdict will often sufficiently show that the jury would have convicted" had the proper instruction and elements have been submitted before the jury. See, i.e., State v. Beamon, 2013 WI 47, 347 Wis. 2d 559, 830 N.W.2d 681.

If the State cannot prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would have found the defendant guilty of the crime had the proper instruction been submitted to the jury, the conviction shall be vacated and retrial barred under the doctrine of double jeopardy. *Williams*, 2015 WI 75, ¶52, citing *Wulff*, 207 Wis. 2d 143, 153.

While a reviewing court typically gives deference to a jury verdict in a criminal case, "[w]here jury instructions do not accurately state the controlling law, we will examine the erroneous instructions under the standard for harmless error, which presents a question of law for our independent review." *Id.* at ¶34, citing *Beamon*, 2013 WI 47, ¶19, citing *State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶18, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189.

2. The court's instruction of the jury with the wrong sexual assault offense was not harmless.

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