FILED 10-26-2021 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2019AP1046-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

THEOPHILOUS RUFFIN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT I, PARTIALLY REVERSING AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE M. JOSEPH DONALD, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JENNIFER L. VANDERMEUSE Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1070979

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has held that a sufficiently pleaded postconviction motion may be denied without an evidentiary

Filed 10-26-2021

hearing where the record conclusively shows that the defendant is not entitled to relief. This rule makes perfect sense, since it does not benefit anyone to require circuit courts to hold meritless evidentiary hearings.

Lower courts have occasionally struggled with this concept based on their interpretation of language from this Court's opinions. Here, the court of appeals appeared to read State v. Allen¹⁰ to mean that an evidentiary hearing was required when the defendant alleged sufficient facts in his postconviction motion claiming ineffective assistance of counsel. But since *Allen*, this Court has repeatedly stated that this is not correct.

Once again, this Court must clarify that a sufficiently pleaded postconviction motion may be denied without a hearing where the record conclusively refutes the defendant's allegations. There is no exception for ineffective-assistance claims, nor should there be. Requiring a *Machner* hearing where the record conclusively shows no prejudice (or no deficient performance, for that matter) disregards the United States Supreme Court's instruction that "[c]ourts should strive to ensure that ineffectiveness claims not become so burdensome to defense counsel that the entire criminal justice system suffers as a result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 697 (1984).

In this case, the record conclusively shows that Ruffin is not entitled to relief, for two reasons. First, Ruffin's counsel was not deficient for abandoning his request for a self-defense instruction. The evidence, reasonably viewed in the light most favorable to Ruffin, does not support a theory of self-defense.

¹⁰ State v. Allen, 2004 WI 106, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433.

Second, counsel's decision not to pursue self-defense did not prejudice Ruffin. Under no reasonable view of the evidence would a jury have concluded that Ruffin acted in lawful selfdefense.

The court of appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's most recent precedent and applies a standard that creates inefficiency in an already overburdened court system. This Court should reverse the court of appeals' decision to remand the case for a *Machner* hearing and affirm the circuit court's denial of Ruffin's postconviction motion.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly exercised its discretion to deny Ruffin's postconviction motion without a *Machner* hearing.

A. A court may deny a sufficiently pleaded postconviction motion without a *Machner* hearing when the record conclusively shows that the defendant is not entitled to relief.

A Machner hearing is a prerequisite for finding that counsel rendered ineffective assistance. State v. Sholar, 2018 WI 53, ¶ 54, 381 Wis. 2d 560, 912 N.W.2d 89. But that does not mean a defendant is automatically entitled to a Machner hearing anytime he or she alleges ineffective assistance. State v. Curtis, 218 Wis. 2d 550, 555 n.3, 582 N.W.2d 409 (Ct. App. 1998). Rather, a Machner hearing is required only when the movant states sufficient material facts that, if true, would entitle the defendant to relief. Sholar, 381 Wis. 2d 560, ¶ 50 (citing Allen, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 14). However, if the motion "does not raise facts sufficient to entitle the movant to relief, or presents only conclusory allegations, or if the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief, the circuit court has the discretion to grant or deny a

hearing." *Id.* (quoting *Sulla*, 369 Wis. 2d 225, ¶ 23; emphasis added). And when reviewing such a decision, an appellate court should "search the record for reasons to sustain the circuit court's exercise of discretion." *State v. Dobbs*, 2020 WI 64, ¶ 48, 392 Wis. 2d 505, 945 N.W.2d 609 (citation omitted).

This standard derives from several well-known plea withdrawal cases: *Nelson v. State*, 54 Wis. 2d 489, 497–98, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972) (addressing a postconviction motion to withdraw a plea pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 974.06), and *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 310, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996) (extending the *Nelson* test to other postconviction motions to withdraw pleas, including those brought pursuant to Wis. Stat. §§ 809.30 and 974.02)). While *Nelson* and *Bentley* dealt with postconviction motions for plea withdrawal, the basic standard applies to other postconviction motions in which an evidentiary hearing is requested. *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶¶ 9, 13–14. This Court has applied this standard to postconviction motions alleging ineffective assistance after jury trials. *Id.* ¶¶ 7, 9, 13–14; *State v. Roberson*, 2006 WI 80, ¶¶ 18–19, 43–44, 292 Wis. 2d 280, 717 N.W.2d 111.

When a court denies a motion alleging ineffective assistance of counsel without a *Machner* hearing, the issue for the court of appeals "is whether the defendant's motion alleged sufficient facts entitling him to a hearing." *Sholar*, 381 Wis. 2d 560, ¶ 51. However, appellate courts frequently decide—even in the absence of a *Machner* hearing—that the record conclusively demonstrates a defendant was not prejudiced by alleged deficient conduct. *Id.* ¶ 54. For example, in *Roberson*, this Court upheld the circuit court's decision to reject an ineffective-assistance claim without a *Machner* hearing because "the record sufficiently establishe[d] that Roberson was not prejudiced by his counsel's actions." 292 Wis. 2d 280, ¶ 44.

Historically, there has been some confusion as to whether a hearing is mandatory when a defendant sufficiently pleads his postconviction motion. That appears to be because in Bentley, this Court said, "[i]f the motion on its face alleges facts which would entitle the defendant to relief, the circuit court has no discretion and must hold an evidentiary hearing." 201 Wis. 2d at 309-10 (emphasis added). Justice Prosser expressed concern over this language in his dissent in *State v. Love*, 2005 WI 116, ¶¶ 68–73, 284 Wis. 2d 111, 700 N.W.2d 62 (Prosser, J., dissenting). As further explained in *Howell*, he feared that courts appeared "powerless to deny a requested evidentiary hearing when there is a properly pleaded motion, even though the circuit court has compelling evidence from the record that key allegations in the motion are not true." Howell, 301 Wis. 2d 350, ¶ 150 (Prosser, J., dissenting).

This Court clarified the in Howell: matter "Bentley might be interpreted to make an evidentiary hearing mandatory whenever the motion contains sufficient, nonconclusory facts, even if the record as a whole would demonstrate that the defendant's plea was constitutionally sound. Such an interpretation of *Nelson* and *Bentley*, however, is not correct." Howell, 301 Wis. 2d 350, ¶ 77 n.51. This Court continued, "[t]he correct interpretation of Nelson/Bentley is that an evidentiary hearing is not mandatory if the record as a whole conclusively demonstrates that defendant is not entitled to relief, even if the motion alleges sufficient nonconclusory facts." Id.

This Court reaffirmed *Howell*'s clarification in the plea withdrawal context at least three times since then. In *State v. Negrete*, this Court explained, "[w]here a defendant's motion alleges facts that would entitle him to withdraw his plea, but the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief, no evidentiary hearing is required." *State v. Negrete*, 2012 WI 92, ¶ 17, 343 Wis. 2d 1, 819 N.W.2d

749. And in Sulla, this Court explained that a sufficiently pleaded postconviction motion may be denied without an evidentiary hearing on record-conclusively-shows grounds. Sulla, 369 Wis. 2d 225, ¶ 30 ("[t]o be clear, a circuit court has the discretion to deny a defendant's motion—even a properly pled motion—to withdraw his plea without holding an evidentiary hearing if the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief.")

This Court elaborated on the correct standard in *State* v. Reyes Fuerte:

Under the *Bentley* standard, the reviewing court first determines whether the motion "alleges sufficient material facts that, if true, would entitle the defendant to relief." ... If sufficient facts are alleged, the court then looks to the record to determine whether an evidentiary hearing is required.... An evidentiary hearing is required if the record is insufficient to determine whether the defendant is entitled to relief. ... Conversely, no hearing is required if the record "conclusively demonstrates" that the defendant is not entitled to relief, even if the motion alleges sufficient facts.

State v. Reyes Fuerte, 2017 WI 104, \P 14, 378 Wis. 2d 504, 904 N.W.2d 773 (citations omitted).

In short, a sufficiently pleaded postconviction motion even one alleging ineffective assistance—may be denied without a hearing where the record conclusively refutes the defendant's allegations. See, e.g., State v. Ndina, 2007 WI App 268, ¶¶ 15, 17–23, 306 Wis. 2d 706, 743 N.W.2d 722, aff'd on other grounds, 2009 WI 21, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612; State v. Marks, 2010 WI App 172, ¶¶ 13, 26, 330 Wis. 2d 693, 794 N.W.2d 547. "[A] defendant is automatically entitled to an evidentiary hearing no matter how . . . meritless the ineffective assistance of counsel claim might be." Curtis, 218 Wis. 2d at 555 n.3.

However, as explained in further detail below, some courts (including the court of appeals here) continue to cite parts of *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568 and rely on the interpretation of *Bentley* that was rejected *Howell*, 301 Wis. 2d 350, ¶ 77 & n. 51. *See, e.g., State v. Spencer*, 2021 WI App 27, ¶ 22, 397 Wis. 2d 241, 959 N.W.2d 74, 2021 WL 870598, at *5 (unpublished) (Pet-App. 118–19). In other words, despite this Court's re-affirmation of the record-conclusively-shows standard in *Howell, Negrete, Sulla, and Reyes Fuerte*, some courts continue to interpret this Court's earlier precedent as requiring an evidentiary hearing any time a defendant sufficiently pleads an ineffective assistance of counsel claim.

This Court should re-affirm that a sufficiently pleaded postconviction motion alleging ineffective assistance of counsel may be denied without a hearing where the record conclusively shows the defendant is not entitled to relief. And it should unambiguously reject any cases reading *Bentley* as saying otherwise.

B. This record conclusively shows that Ruffin is not entitled to relief.

Applying the correct standard here, the circuit court properly denied Ruffin's motion without a hearing. To establish a prima facie case of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must allege facts that establish that counsel was both deficient and that the deficiency was prejudicial, under the familiar two-part test articulated in *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. Even assuming Ruffin sufficiently alleged relevant facts in his postconviction motion, the record conclusively establishes that he is not entitled to relief. Therefore, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it denied Ruffin's postconviction motion without a *Machner* hearing.

1. Ruffin's counsel was not deficient for abandoning his request for a self-defense instruction.

In his postconviction motion, Ruffin argued that "trial counsel erred by failing to renew his request that the self-defense instruction be applied to the sexual assault allegation." (R. 49:18.) He contended that, based on the trial record, the circuit court would have been required to provide the self-defense instruction if counsel had asked for it. (R. 49:18.) Ruffin is wrong.

Self-defense allows a defendant to use force against a person when the following three criteria are met: (1) the defendant believed that there was an actual or imminent unlawful interference with him; (2) he believed that the amount of force he used was necessary to stop that interference; and (3) the defendant's beliefs were reasonable. Wis. JI–Criminal 800 (2005). "A belief may be reasonable even though mistaken." Wis. JI–Criminal 800 (2005). But the standard to determine reasonableness is "what a person of ordinary intelligence and prudence would have believed in the defendant's position under the circumstances that existed at the time of the alleged offense." Wis. JI–Criminal 800 (2005).

Additionally, there are limits on self-defense. "The actor may intentionally use only such force or threat thereof as the actor reasonably believes is necessary to prevent or terminate the interference." Wis. Stat. § 939.48(1). Further, "[t]he actor may not intentionally use force which is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily harm unless the actor reasonably believes that such force is necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm to himself or herself." Wis. Stat. § 939.48(1).

Similar to Wisconsin Jury Instruction 800, this Court has divided perfect self-defense into two elements: "(1) a reasonable belief in the existence of an unlawful interference; and (2) a reasonable belief that the amount of force the person intentionally used was *necessary* to prevent or terminate the interference." $State\ v.\ Head,\ 2002\ WI\ 99,\ \P\ 84,\ 255\ Wis.\ 2d\ 194,\ 648\ N.W.2d\ 413\ (emphasis\ added).$ A defendant who seeks a jury instruction on perfect self-defense must meet "a reasonable objective threshold" as to both elements. $Id.\ A$ self-defense instruction cannot be based on mere conjecture. $Ross\ v.\ State,\ 61\ Wis.\ 2d\ 160,\ 172,\ 211\ N.W.2d\ 827\ (1973).$

A defendant is not automatically entitled to a jury instruction on an offered defense. State v. Stoehr, 134 Wis. 2d 66, 87, 396 N.W.2d 177 (1986). But a criminal defendant is entitled to have the jury consider any defense supported by the evidence when he properly requests that the court instruct the jury on that defense. In determining whether there is sufficient evidence to support the instruction, courts determine whether the evidence viewed in the most favorable light that it is reasonable to admit from the defendant's point of view supports the instruction. State v. Coleman, 206 Wis. 2d 199, 213–14, 556 N.W.2d 701 (1996).

Counsel does not perform deficiently in failing to request a jury instruction for an invalid defense. State v. Dundon, 226 Wis. 2d 654, ¶¶ 48–49, 594 N.W.2d 780 (1999). In Dundon, the defendant argued that his trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance for failing to request jury instructions on self-defense, Wis JI-Criminal 800, as well as another defense. Id. ¶ 48. The circuit court denied the postconviction motion without a hearing. Id. ¶ 49. This Court

 $^{^{11}}$ No evidence establishes that Ruffin asked his lawyer to maintain self-defense. That issue is not relevant to this appeal, because even if Ruffin had requested self-defense while his attorney did not, counsel cannot be deficient for failing to raise a meritless argument. *State v. Allen*, 2017 WI 7, ¶ 46, 373 Wis. 2d 98, 890 N.W.2d 245.

affirmed, noting that Dundon was not entitled to any privilege instruction, based on the relevant statutes and facts of his case. *Id.*, see also ¶¶ 25–40. This Court reasoned that "[w]e would be hard pressed to conclude that Dundon's counsel performed deficiently in failing to request a jury instruction to an invalid defense." Id. ¶49.

Here, the evidence, reasonably viewed in the light most favorable to Ruffin, does not support the theory of self-defense. According to Ruffin, he and Delia were involved in a verbal argument when she began to hit him and tried to push him down the stairs. (R. 73:8–9.) In response, Ruffin tried to push Delia onto their bed when she tripped, grabbed him by the collar, and they both fell on the bed. (R. 73:9.) Then, Delia wrapped her legs around him. (R. 73:9.) In an effort to avoid falling on Delia and their fetus, and to get her to let go of him, Ruffin tried to hold himself off of her while moving her legs off of him. (R. 73:9–11.) In the process, he ripped Delia's vaginal tissue. (R. 73:11.)

Even if Ruffin's testimony created a factual issue as to whether he had a reasonable belief in the existence of an unlawful interference (which is questionable), there is no evidence from which a reasonable person could find that in nearly detaching Delia's labia, Ruffin's acted with force that he reasonably believed was necessary to stop her aggression. *Head*, 255 Wis. 2d 194, ¶ 84.

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